

Leading for Equity:

Opportunities for State Education Chiefs





The Aspen Education & Society Program

The Aspen Education & Society Program improves public education by inspiring, informing, and influencing education leaders across policy and practice, with an emphasis on achieving equity for traditionally underserved students.

www.aspeninstitute.org/education

The Council of Chief State School Officers

The Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) is a nonpartisan, nationwide nonprofit organization of public officials who head departments of elementary and secondary education in the states, the District of Columbia, the Department of Defense Education Activity, and five U.S. extra-state jurisdictions. CCSSO provides leadership, advocacy, and technical assistance on major educational issues. The Council seeks member consensus on major educational issues and expresses their views to civic and professional organizations, federal agencies, Congress, and the public.

www.ccsso.org

Suggested Citation: The Aspen Education & Society Program and the Council of Chief State School Officers. 2017.

Leading for Equity: Opportunities for State Education Chiefs. Washington, D.C.

The Aspen Education & Society Program

One Dupont Circle, NW, Suite 700 | Washington, DC 20036-1133 voice: 202.736.5800 | fax: 202.467.0790

COUNCIL OF CHIEF STATE SCHOOL OFFICERS

Tony Evers (Wisconsin), Past President Melody Schopp (South Dakota), President Chris Minnich, Executive Director

One Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Suite 700 • Washington, DC 20001-1431 Phone (202) 336-7000 • Fax (202) 408-8072 • www.ccsso.org

CONTENTS

Equity	Matters	3
Definin	g Equity	4
How to	Use this Guide	4
Taking	a Stand for Equity	5
1.	Prioritize Equity: Set and Communicate an Equity Vision and Measurable Targets	6
2.	Start from Within: Focus on the State Education Agency	8
3.	Measure What Matters: Create Accountability for Equity	10
4.	Go Local: Engage Local Education Agencies (LEAs) and Provide Tailored and Differentiated Support	12
5.	Follow the Money: Allocate Resources to Achieve Fiscal Equity	13
6.	Start Early: Invest in the Youngest Learners	15
7.	Engage More Deeply: Monitor Equitable Implementation of Standards and Assessments	16
8.	Value People: Focus on Teachers and Leaders	19
9.	Improve Conditions for Learning: Focus on School Culture, Climate, and Social-emotional Development	20
10.	Empower Student Options: Ensure Families Have Access to High-quality Educational Options That Align to Community Needs	23
Conclu	sion	26
Acknov	vledgements	27

EQUITY MATTERS

Every student deserves an education that prepares him or her for lifelong learning, success in the world of work, and participation in representative government. Unfortunately, far too many students are not receiving the high-quality educational experiences needed to help them reach these goals. This not only hobbles their individual chances for success, but also undermines shared growth in an economy where most jobs that pay a living wage require some form of

post-secondary education. Meaningful progress toward equity in education does not necessarily mean equal resources for all. Some students from historically disadvantaged backgrounds are starting with less than their peers, and therefore require additional resources to achieve the same level of success. Educational equity means that every student has access to the educational resources and rigor they need at the right moment in their education across race, gender, ethnicity, language, disability, sexual orientation, family background and/or family income. State education chiefs are uniquely positioned to lead their state

Educational equity

Educational equity means that every student has access to the educational resources and rigor they need at the right moment in their education across race, gender, ethnicity, language, disability, sexual orientation, family background and/or family income.

toward achieving educational equity. To do this, state chiefs must engage with diverse audiences across their state—families and communities, educators, policy makers, private-sector leaders, and faith communities—to forge a new commitment to educational equity.

Part of leading for equity means state leaders must rebuild trust that has been lost between the public and civic institutions, including public education. Many Americans have experienced inequity in education for generations. They have lost confidence that public officials are committed to ensuring that factors like race and socio-economic status do not determine students' success. Furthermore, there is a pervasive lack of awareness about the deeply disparate opportunities and outcomes that persist for low-income students, students of color, English learners, and students with disabilities. To regain trust and bridge this divide, state chiefs must publicly articulate specific, measurable commitments to advance equity, and empower stakeholders to hold the system accountable for delivering on those commitments. By making equity a priority, chiefs can contribute to improving our country and realizing the promise of public education.

Many educators, policymakers, and community leaders are advancing equity every day through their hard work and determination, often without much-needed support. Despite some progress, achievement and opportunity gaps persist at all levels of the educational system and education leaders can and must do more to advance equity.

DEFINING EQUITY

In an equitable education system, personal and social identifiers such as race, gender, ethnicity, language, disability, sexual orientation, family background and/or income are not obstacles to accessing educational opportunities; the circumstances children are born into do not predict their access to the resources and educational rigor necessary for success. Within such a system, all individuals attain sufficient knowledge and skills to pursue the college and career path of their choice and become active and contributing members of their communities.

Both inputs and outcomes must be considered when evaluating equity in education. Inputs such as distribution of funding, access to high-quality teachers, rigorous coursework, support services, supportive school climates, and extracurricular opportunities all play a role in contributing to educational equity. Outcomes such as achievement and attainment rates, graduation rates, suspension rates, access to social capital, post-secondary enrollment and completion, and access to well-paying careers are all measures of equity. Equity does not mean creating equal conditions for all students, but rather targeting resources based on individual students' needs and circumstances, which includes providing differentiated funding and supports and respecting students' voice and agency. Targeting supports in this way is intended to remove barriers and create the same opportunities for low-income students, students of color, English learners, and students with disabilities that their more advantaged peers experience.

Although federal, state, and local educational systems play an important role in monitoring, promoting, and ensuring equity in education, individuals and communities must also have agency to authentically inform and influence public education to create and maintain true equity.

HOW TO USE THIS GUIDE

These ten commitments are actions state chiefs can take to create a more equitable education system in their state. It is not feasible or realistic for any SEA to implement all ten of these commitments at once. Instead, we encourage state chiefs and their leadership teams to use the ten commitments to identify the most pressing concerns and greatest opportunities in their state and create an equity plan that allows their efforts toward educational equity to be monitored, modified, and measured. Within each of the broad categories are specific actions chiefs can take to advance equitable outcomes, guide conversations, and think more holistically to improve equity at scale in their states. This framework does not catalog every opportunity to advance equity, but highlights those on which state leaders can focus their efforts. In many cases, states already have policies in place to advance equity, especially as states transition to the Every Student Succeeds Act; the ten commitments can supplement these efforts. Once state chiefs and their leadership teams have selected commitments they plan to implement, they can visit www.ccsso.org/EquityResources for a Resource Appendix with research, tools, and partners that can support their work.

Leading for Equity: Opportunities for State Education Chiefs

TAKING A STAND FOR EQUITY

State chiefs play a central role in advancing educational equity for all students and committing to transformation for the most disadvantaged students. The following ten commitments are actions state chiefs and their state education agencies (SEAs) can take to improve educational equity. SEAs should also consider using federal funding and flexibility granted by the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA)¹ to strengthen state efforts.

- 1. Prioritize Equity: Set and Communicate an Equity Vision and Measurable Targets
- 2. Start from Within: Focus on the State Education Agency
- 3. Measure What Matters: Create Accountability for Equity
- 4. Go Local: Engage Local Education Agencies (LEAs) and Provide Tailored and Differentiated Support
- 5. Follow the Money: Allocate Resources to Achieve Fiscal Equity
- 6. Start Early: Invest in the Youngest Learners
- 7. Engage More Deeply: Monitor Equitable Implementation of Standards and Assessments
- 8. Value People: Focus on Teachers and Leaders
- 9. Improve Conditions for Learning: Focus on School Culture, Climate, and Socialemotional Development
- 10. Empower Student Options: Ensure Families Have Access to High-quality Educational Options That Align to Community Needs

1. Prioritize Equity: Set and Communicate an Equity Vision and Measurable Targets

As the highest-ranking education official in the state, chief state school officers have committed to prioritize the equity mission of public education. As part of setting the strategic vision and plan for the state's education system – and in collaboration with state boards of education, state legislatures, and governors – chiefs and their teams must analyze data to

determine the greatest gaps and equity challenges and determine how they will focus efforts and allocate limited resources to address those gaps and their root causes. The chief is uniquely positioned to create urgency, galvanize state action, and instill optimism in educators and other stakeholders that significant progress can be accomplished through their collective efforts. This requires trade-offs, clear communication, and a call to stakeholders at all levels of the system to prioritize this work. Specific state actions include:

The chief is uniquely positioned to create urgency, galvanize state action, and instill optimism in educators and other stakeholders that significant progress can be accomplished through their collective efforts.

- a) Make the case that equity benefits everyone in society. If education is treated as a zero-sum game in which some need to lose to provide greater opportunity for others, it will be difficult to create buy-in and maintain momentum for change. The benefits of greater equity in education extend to all; when inequity persists, it costs everyone in terms of lost opportunities for economic development, greater dependence on government supports, and fewer Americans ready to serve our country as leaders across sectors and in the military.² Chiefs can create more support for this agenda by emphasizing the connection between equitable outcomes in education and greater prosperity and security for all Americans.
- **b)** Proactively initiate and lead conversations about equity. This may include publicly examining data on current performance and trends (including preschool, K-12, post-secondary achievement and attainment rates, and workforce participation), as well as opportunity gaps and disparities in funding and resource allocation. A diverse group of stakeholders, including policymakers, educators, district leaders, community leaders, parents, and students should be engaged in this process³.
- c) Ensure that data are clear, accurate, and accessible to key stakeholders, with a focus on parents, legislators, and the media. In order to address deep-seated patterns of inadequate opportunity and build the will to advance equity, chiefs must have a clear understanding of current conditions. Many Americans are unaware of the extent to which uneven distribution of resources and opportunities within and across schools throughout our public education system exacerbates inequity⁴. Recognizing that data is essential for establishing baselines, setting goals, and supporting continuous improvement, SEAs should invest in data quality, and take actions including:

- o Creating protocols for data reporting and establishing quality-assurance mechanisms to ensure reliable data.
- o Enabling data systems to report on students' progress after graduation, including post-secondary access and completion, formal apprenticeships, military participation, and remediation rates in order to create feedback loops for the K-12 system.
- o Disaggregating data in meaningful ways to identify disparities in opportunity and outcomes.
- d) Collect, disaggregate, analyze, and publicly share data on other indicators of long-term success. These data may include earnings, health and well-being, housing, and employment. Data sets should be structured to illuminate the interplay between education and longerterm indicators of success. To achieve this, SEAs may need to build new partnerships with additional state agencies, non-profit organizations, foundations, policymakers, and the media.
- e) Partner with stakeholders and other state actors to create urgency, establish public commitments, and set ambitious and achievable goals for addressing inequities in the state. Conversations about the biggest gaps and best opportunities to advance equity should inform equity-driven commitments and goals. By engaging leaders from the state board of education, governor's office, and the legislature, state chiefs can connect to a broader group of supporters.
- f) Assign state agency staff and allocate state agency funding to support data analysis and communications functions. As part of this commitment to transparency and public reporting, state leaders should ensure that adequate data collection practices and technical
 - infrastructure are in place; SEAs should be able to guarantee the quality of this information and ensure the timely reporting of data. SEAs may also need to consider the possible roles for external partners like universities, regional education centers, education advocacy groups, and civil rights organizations that can both add capacity and hold the state accountable for action.



g) Once these commitments and goals have been established, chiefs should hold themselves and others in the state accountable for making progress, and celebrate success where it is achieved. Chiefs should regularly check in with SEA staff on where they are achieving gains, where they are struggling, and where the chief can help make the goals a reality. State chiefs should also ensure their strategic communications plan includes frequent progress reports on goals. CCSSO is committed to providing a forum for chiefs to share progress, collaborate on best practices, and provide resources on equity.

2. Start from Within: Focus on the State Education Agency

State education agencies (SEAs) can strategically reallocate funding and staff resources to further their mission of advancing equity. Historically, SEAs have been resourced to administer and monitor how the state spends federal and state education funds, and many SEAs are still structured with divisions that reflect these different funding streams.⁵ While a complete

reorganization is not necessary, state leaders should consider how current SEA structures contribute to existing inequities and/or create barriers to more effectively tackling educational equity. The authority of state chiefs and the agencies they oversee varies by state. Even with limited authority, state chiefs can better equip SEA staff to be leaders for educational equity. Specific actions include:

It is important to acknowledge the unique history and present manifestations of race and inequity in American society.

- a) Lead conversations on the impact of poverty on education and advocate for the resources students and families need. With one in five children living below the federal poverty line⁶ and communities across the country dealing with entrenched intergenerational poverty, chiefs and their leadership teams must be prepared to discuss the effects of hunger, homelessness, housing insecurity, and/or lack of access to quality healthcare on the students they serve and the importance of providing these children with rich educational experiences regardless of their background. Chiefs have an important role to play in advocating for funding and resources for vulnerable students, and building partnerships to holistically address their needs. Chiefs should ensure that they do not conflate race with poverty or use poverty as a way to avoid more difficult conversations about race.
- b) Talk directly about issues of race and equity and prepare the senior leadership team to speak effectively and comfortably about race and racism. As numerous sources of data on educational inequity prove, race still matters. Even when other factors are accounted for, such as students' socioeconomic and disability status, there are serious and persistent racial gaps that can only be solved if doing so is a leadership priority. It is important to acknowledge the unique history and present manifestations of race and inequity in American society. Creating a space to discuss and address these issues is both difficult and essential, and requires courageous leadership. To convey the importance of this work, state chiefs should institute trainings for SEA staff on how to talk about race. Given the sensitivity of these issues, it is a necessary strategy to start these conversations internally with SEA staff before engaging external stakeholders in conversations that address issues of race and equity directly. SEA staff must understand the history of racial discrimination in public education and explore how their unconscious bias may allow these inequities to persist. These conversations might need expert facilitation particularly at the outset, and the chief should be present and engaged so that their staff knows these issues are a priority at the highest levels of leadership. While it is necessary to address issues of

race directly, race is not the only paradigm for addressing equity—in some states other equity issues may be more acute or urgent.

c) Make equity an agency-wide priority by setting equity-related goals within and across divisions that are tied to the state's broader goals and strategies. Students growing up in poverty require additional resources, as do students with disabilities and English learners; a robust accountability system should elevate successes and challenges in meeting the needs of all students. Within the SEA, however, equity should be about more than closing achievement and opportunity gaps, though these are important measures to assess goals against. Additional equity-related goals can help the SEA as a whole—and each division within the agency—achieve their vision for equitable education statewide. For example, content or curriculum leaders at the SEA can set a goal of increasing the share of culturally-relevant curricula and books written by and depicting people of color

Within the SEA, however, equity should be about more than closing achievement and opportunity gaps, though these are important measures to assess goals against. recommended for local districts to adopt; human resources can focus on recruiting and hiring diverse SEA staff; and human capital offices can strive to increase access to effective teachers and leaders for low-income students and students of color. SEA leaders

should provide necessary resources, information, and support for division leaders to set and meet these goals and make them a priority in management routines to keep equity in focus across divisions. All SEA staff should be held responsible for advancing equity and should see it reflected in their own work.

- d) Consider restructuring SEA roles to prioritize equity. Some school systems have created a Chief Equity Officer position to oversee many of the types of actions described in this document and to keep the issue in the forefront. Some states and systems have an Office of Native American Education or Office of Hispanic Education, depending on their student population. These offices need to be staffed and funded adequately, have regular communication with the chief and senior SEA leaders, and have a clear charge and measurable goals. Chiefs should also ensure these offices do not operate in silos, but work together with other departments.
- e) Diversify SEA staff. State agencies should prioritize the recruitment and hiring of people who are representative of the student population in the state. In states with particularly significant racial achievement gaps, leaders should ensure that the staff tasked with addressing these gaps understand and represent the communities they are trying to serve. There are challenges to recruiting diverse talent, including the geography of state capitals, salary schedules, and the traditional profile of SEA employees. Chiefs must address these challenges creatively; they can start by reaching out to diverse education leaders and finding out what would incent them to help lead this work at the SEA.

f) Target more SEA funding toward outreach and communications, with a focus on directly engaging low-income families and families of color and building partnerships with organizations that have closer ties to families and community leaders. Chiefs and their leadership teams should build and sustain two-way lines of communication and feedback loops with the students and families they serve. To achieve this, chiefs can explore how different funding sources can be braided to facilitate these conversations and extend and build agency capacity. Representatives from these organizations and communities should be valued partners on all of the key tasks of improving the quality of education, not just related to equity. For example, chiefs could use federal funds for statewide family engagement centers, and use state communications and outreach funds to support research on best practices for building an infrastructure for communication and family engagement. This could include outreach training for SEA staff to ensure more SEA staff beyond the chief, public information officer, and a handful of other agency staff are prepared to engage with stakeholders. Communications from the SEA should be made available in the languages families speak and in formats accessible to students and adults with disabilities.

3. Measure What Matters: Create Accountability for Equity

Designing and administering accountability systems is a core state responsibility with profound implications for equity. Accountability has multiple dimensions under state and federal law, including the design of school performance rating systems and oversight of evidence-based

interventions in low-performing schools and schools with persistent and significant achievement gaps. In addition, ESSA requires greater transparency and public reporting so the public can hold system leaders accountable for equity. While there are both federally- and state-imposed timelines for the development and implementation of new statewide accountability systems, state leaders should not let an ESSA-compliance

ESSA requires greater transparency and public reporting so the public can hold system leaders accountable for equity.

mentality drive their accountability design; instead, chiefs should consider their broader vision for the state education system and the state's equity goals. Specific actions include:

a) Include measures of proficiency and progress and growth in the accountability system. While measures of academic proficiency, including average scale scores and proficiency indexes, are important for identifying achievement gaps, student growth is a more effective way to show improvement and progress over time. To fully tell the story of achievement and advancement, SEAs should include both types of measures in their accountability systems and shine a light on schools and systems with low achievement and low growth. SEAs should also measure academic achievement at multiple performance levels—such as basic, proficient, and advanced—so that all students matter, and not just the "bubble kids" near the proficiency line. This is particularly important for high-achieving, low-income students who are likely to be overlooked by a singular focus on proficiency.

- b) Set ambitious and achievable interim and long-term goals for English learners and ensure they are making adequate progress achieving English language proficiency. Chiefs and stakeholders should clearly define the meaning of English language proficiency and ensure accountability systems include the measures needed to track progress toward and intervene when states and districts are off-track. The chief should also determine who can hold the SEA accountable for meeting its goals. SEAs and LEAs must integrate English language learning into broader curriculum and instruction, professional learning, teacher preparation, and recruitment efforts.
- c) Collect data and report on school climate. ESSA's accountability provisions include a new indicator for school quality or student success, such as chronic absenteeism, student engagement, postsecondary readiness, or school climate and safety. Chiefs can explore how to report these indicators of equity to the public when formal accountability measures are unavailable.
- **d)** Analyze and publicly report rates of identification for special education services. SEAs can monitor trends in identifying students with disabilities, including overidentification and under-identification of students of color, English learners, or low
 - income students and intervene if groups of students are being systemically over- or underrepresented. SEAs can use these data to work with LEAs and schools to determine the reasons for disproportionate identification and consider additional resources or training to reverse these trends. SEAs can also play a role when students are being underserved or not receiving high-quality supplemental services based



- on their needs. Professional development and training for SEA, district, and school staff involved in identifying and supporting students with disabilities should include explicit conversations about race, bias, and appropriate identification and services for students.
- e) Ensure the accountability system is relevant and meaningful to parents, students, and other stakeholders. SEAs should engage representatives from low-income communities and communities of color in the design, reporting, and refinement of accountability measures. It is especially important to build partnerships and maintain open lines of communication with district and community leaders when intervening in low-performing schools.
- f) Partner with LEAs to ensure school improvement efforts are targeted to community needs and strengths. Catalog and leverage the assets of each school as part of the school improvement strategy. For example, school improvement planning templates should

include community engagement and contributions that can be made by local leaders, community-based organizations, and corporate partners. Community-based organizations and service providers can also be leveraged to provide additional expertise, capacity, and support for schools and students.

4. Go Local: Engage Local Education Agencies (LEAs) and Provide Tailored and Differentiated Support

Education is largely a local enterprise, with local education agencies (LEAs)—districts, charters, or charter management organizations—leading education strategy, administration, and resource allocation. While governance structures and authority vary by state, state education leaders can provide guidance, support, funding, public pressure, and incentives to help LEAs close

achievement and opportunity gaps based on local context. Accountability, monitoring, compliance, and oversight will always be necessary state (and federal) functions, but state leaders should take the lead to find common ground with local superintendents, local school board members, and

To be sustainable, the effort to combat inequity should be locally-owned.

other leaders to make sure all actors recognize their power and responsibility to advance equity. Closing opportunity and achievement gaps can only happen if state and local leaders understand and embrace their respective roles. Specific actions include:

- a) Convene and build an ongoing dialogue with local leaders who hold different roles and perspectives on how to learn about promising practices and design new approaches to address inequity. To be sustainable, the effort to combat inequity should be locally-owned. Chiefs should make equity considerations a prominent feature of site visits and community meetings. Chiefs and their teams can feature data on issues of inequity to ensure prioritization.
- b) Provide targeted supports and guidance to districts to help teachers and leaders build and sustain excellent schools. SEAs should consider how to build a network of school and district leaders working in similar contexts to provide them with resources and thought partnership. This may include addressing classroom management challenges, preparing educators to teach and lead in high-poverty schools, recruiting and retaining highly-effective educators in hard-to-staff schools, and/or provide technical assistance to help districts examine their human capital data to identify trends and gaps.
- c) Encourage LEAs to explore and select culturally-relevant instructional materials and pedagogy that is aligned to state standards.⁸ In states with high populations of certain student groups, state leaders may vet and provide these resources and consider accompanying cross-walks or alignment guides to ease the burden on districts. States could also consider how to incentivize the use of culturally-relevant materials for recipients of School Improvement Grants.

- **d)** Highlight promising local practices for equity. SEAs can surface bright spots from LEAs or local community groups and help others in the state understand what it took to generate those results. Chiefs and their leadership should consider interactive ways to engage stakeholders and other members of the public in these discussions; they can lead "equity walks" showing progress, results, and how to sustain and build on successes.
- e) Require or incentivize participation in and funding for high-quality trainings that address the needs of the whole child. This can include restorative justice techniques (alternative disciplinary practices that value conflict resolution and mediation over exclusionary disciplinary practices), cultural competency, positive behavior supports, identifying and addressing mental health needs, family outreach, or other priority areas identified by local needs assessments. These opportunities should be targeted to LEAs with the most acute needs. SEAs should also consider where these competencies can be incorporated into educator preparation program coursework and licensure and recertification requirements. SEAs should not attempt to provide these trainings themselves, but instead should vet the effectiveness of potential providers and supply schools and districts with a menu of high-quality options.
- f) Provide grants for innovative, local programs targeted at specific disadvantaged groups of students. Programs targeted at specific subgroups have been shown to improve student engagement and academic achievement.¹⁰ SEAs should use state and district data to identify the right groups on which to focus these efforts.

5. Follow the Money: Allocate Resources to Achieve Fiscal Equity

Funding for public education is a foundational state responsibility. Over the last several decades, many states have increased their share of public education funding, minimizing reliance on local funds that are distributed unevenly and exacerbate inequality.¹¹ In some

states, funding has become more equitable in recent years, but states and districts still often invest less in educating low-income students and students of color than they do in educating affluent and white students.¹² These funding gaps occur across districts, at different schools within the same district, and even within the same school.¹³ Specific actions include:

State leaders should commit to advocating for fiscal equity, and use their political influence and authority to allocate resources for closing opportunity gaps.

a) Advocate for equitable and adequate funding. State leaders should commit to advocating for fiscal equity, and use their political influence and authority to allocate resources for closing opportunity gaps. Funding and allocation formulas are usually determined through a political process, in which chiefs can engage with governors, state boards, and legislators (including members of the education committees and/or

budget/finance committees) to provide leadership, information, and data to improve resource equity. Chiefs can also lead conversations about and build political will for weighted student funding formulas, making the case for how these formulas will advance equity, improve student outcomes, and serve the state's overall educational goals. This includes ensuring that high-quality charter schools also receive sufficient funding, if applicable.

b) Offer fiscal guidance for LEAs on how to invest in high-leverage supports which are more likely to contribute to student academic success. State leaders should provide assistance to local leaders, including superintendents, Chief Academic Officers, Chief Financial Officers and local school board members in determining how best to allocate dollars to meet equity goals. This will likely require trade-offs. For example, funding programs for disadvantaged students may require hiring fewer school officers/security

State chiefs should reach out to county and state departments of public health, workforce development, and other providers of social services to ensure every possible available resource is utilized to help disadvantaged students succeed.

guards, whose benefits are outweighed by a negative influence on school culture and equity, and disproportionate consequences for students of color¹⁴, and instead dedicate those resources toward hiring school counselors, mental and behavioral health workers, and nurses.

- **c) Monitor equitable distribution of local funds**. SEAs should ensure that low-income students and students of color have equitable access to, among other things:
 - a. technology, including STEM courses and content and broadband access;
 - b. high-quality and safe facilities, including structurally-sound buildings, safe passages (crossing guards/crosswalks), science labs, functional heating and air-conditioning, and school cafeterias with kitchens if necessary; and
 - c. extra-curricular opportunities such as art, music, sports, and associated resources (instruments, playing fields, equipment, etc.).
- d) Prioritize coordination of public funding and services. SEAs can combine funds from multiple sources for education as well as other services like health and nutrition, and leverage intergovernmental coordination to accomplish this. State chiefs should reach out to county and state departments of public health, workforce development, and other providers of social services to ensure every possible available resource is utilized to help disadvantaged students succeed. The chief and SEA staff can build partnerships at the state level and encourage them at the local level to facilitate this coordination. In addition, SEAs should provide support for LEAs, particularly in rural areas or in smaller districts, to partner to create economies of scale.

6. Start Early: Invest in the Youngest Learners

Many low-income students and students of color are already academically behind their peers when they start kindergarten.¹⁵ A developmentally-appropriate, high-quality early learning experience

aligned to standards uses play to help prepare young children to learn. State chiefs can make the case that equity requires expanding and targeting access to high-quality early childhood education (ECE) programs, and closing opportunity gaps for children growing up in low-income families; this is a critical strategy for improving the quality of K-12 education with a high return on investment.¹⁶ Specific actions may include:

A developmentallyappropriate, high-quality early learning experience aligned to standards uses play to help prepare young children to learn.

- a) Advocate for increased funding for more children to attend high-quality pre-K. Additional pre-K slots can be set aside specifically for:
 - o low-income families (gradually increasing poverty eligibility levels);
 - o three- and four-year old students zoned for under-performing K-12 schools;
 - o dual language learners/English learners;
 - o students in neighborhoods with a dearth of affordable slots, based on community mapping.
- b) Provide state funding, via formula or competitive grants, to improve the quality of publicly-funded pre-K programs tied to quality standards, and target areas with highest need. With this funding, pre-K programs, districts, and schools offering pre-K can:
 - o reduce staff-to-child ratios and lower class size;
 - increase salaries to accompany increased education/degree requirements for ECE teachers;
 - o provide hearing, vision, and dental screenings and services;
 - o extend the pre-K program day;
 - strengthen and foster school and family connections through additional programming; and
 - o provide additional teacher professional development and training.

SEAs should monitor how increased funding helps recipients meet their goals related to expanding and improving high-quality pre-K programs, including allocating classroom slots to low-income students and English learners. SEAs can also provide information to grantees on best practices, technical assistance providers, and program evaluation.¹⁷

- c) Align pre-K/early learning standards to K-3 standards and provide professional development for pre-K and elementary school educators. The transition from pre-K to elementary school is a critical time for young learners, 18 which SEAs can help facilitate. This can include engaging early childhood educators in developing and aligning education standards to guard against "push-down" of instructional practices that are not developmentally appropriate for young children. States can also ensure early learning standards cover multiple domains including social, emotional, physical, and cognitive development, and partner with other state agencies if early learning programs are not housed within the SEA.
- d) Modify suspension or expulsion policies for children in early childhood education programs and primary grades. SEAs should analyze data on trends in suspension and expulsion rates by race, income, and age and train early childhood educators on developmentally-appropriate behavioral interventions to ensure educators can manage their classrooms without resorting to exclusionary discipline practices. School discipline policies should account for student time spent outside of the classroom and seek to reintegrate students as quickly as possible. SEAs can determine the resources necessary for LEAs and schools to develop educators' expertise on social-emotional development in the early grades, and emphasize how investments in this area could help reduce teachers' dependence on exclusionary discipline practices for young children.
- **e)** Prioritize trainings and resources on cultural and linguistic services for the early grades. In some communities, the pre-K population is far more diverse—culturally and linguistically—than the K-12 student population; certain communities are experiencing rapid levels of growth amongst their youngest learners and thus need more resources targeted to those students. States may also consider giving flexibility to LEAs to assess their own needs and utilize resources accordingly.
- f) Engage in partnerships with related state agencies or divisions to ensure alignment across all programs. The SEA can coordinate with health and human service agencies to implement a home-visiting program or other ECE interventions, or work with the state library division on early literacy initiatives.

7. Engage More Deeply: Monitor Equitable Implementation of Standards and Assessments

While most states are not directly responsible for running schools or hiring educators, they do have an important role to monitor and oversee local actions. However, what happens in classrooms, hallways, and playgrounds has the greatest impact on students; chiefs must ensure all students receive an equitable education without micromanaging or overextending themselves. Specific actions include:

Improving the quality of curriculum and related instructional materials is a high-impact strategy for increasing student achievement and engagement.

a) Monitor district course offerings and screening practices to determine whether low-income students and students of color are being provided a college- and career-ready course of study. Compelling evidence establishes that all students accelerate and deepen their learning through advanced courses, such as gifted and talented tracks, Advanced Placement® (AP), International Baccalaureate®, early college high school courses, college-

prep courses, and dual enrollment in post-secondary courses.¹⁹ Yet fears that these courses will be too hard for certain students beget persistent gate-keeping practices (e.g., GPA prerequisites, teacher recommendations).²⁰ SEAs can require districts to report when students are assigned to below-grade-level courses, and/or gifted and talented programs. When rigorous courses are offered, SEAs should monitor fidelity of implementation



and provide resources and support as needed. SEAs can also provide guidance around universal screening practices that can better identify low-income students and students of color who are often underrepresented in advanced courses or gifted and talented tracks.²¹

- **b)** Remove financial barriers to college- and career-readiness. This may include subsidizing AP course or test fees, offering universal and free PSAT, ACT, and/or SAT administrations, and/or providing support materials such as graphing calculators, test prep, or keyboarding skills for students taking computer-based assessments.
- c) Ensure that all students have access to high-quality instructional materials. Improving the quality of curriculum and related instructional materials is a high-impact strategy for increasing student achievement and engagement, yet the quality of instructional materials varies greatly between classrooms and many misaligned materials are still in use.²² Chiefs with state-adopted curriculum policies can play a central role in overseeing the quality of materials. Chiefs in local-adoption states may not have direct oversight, but they can provide guidance and resources on what constitutes high-quality instructional materials; this will demand some political will to ensure rigorous quality review. In addition to general quality and alignment, states can increase representation of diverse and culturally-sustaining materials in locally adopted curricula. As part of this strategy, SEAs can:
 - a. Ensure that history, social studies, and civics curricula and instructional materials include accurate representations of the role of race in American history and governance; this is particularly important in states with state-adopted curriculum policies.
 - b. Assist LEAs with strategies to monitor content of local curricula and instructional materials to prevent racial bias, and foster critical thinking by ensuring students encounter and examine diverse perspectives and world views.

- c. Provide guidance for the creation, alignment, and adoption of instructional materials for English learners and ensure these materials are high quality.²³
- d. Provide guidance for LEAs, schools, and Individualized Education Plan (IEP) teams about including students with disabilities in advanced courses and giving students with the most significant cognitive disabilities access to grade-level content and support for completing a regular diploma.
- d) Check for bias in curriculum and assessment as part of state-level review of instructional materials, and assist LEAs in implementing strategies to detect bias in curriculum and assessment, particularly for locally-selected or designed materials.

 SEA staff can develop checklists or rubrics to help LEA staff and teachers ensure the validity of assessment items. They should be able to recognize if a test item includes culturally biased content, if a particular item produces large gaps along racial or socioeconomic lines, and whether curricular materials are culturally relevant. SEA staff can also connect LEA staff with resources and trainings to instill assessment-related practices that reduce bias.²⁴
- e) Analyze the quality of assignments against rigorous standards and share learnings with LEAs. To meet the demands of college- and career-ready standards, students need to be engaged in intellectually demanding work. Equity is undermined when some students

To meet the demands of college- and career-ready standards, students need to be engaged in intellectually demanding work.

are assigned worksheets while other students work on rich tasks that demand critical thinking. Yet within and across schools and districts, the quality and rigor of classroom assignments can vary greatly.²⁵ SEAs can work with

external support organizations to analyze assignment quality and identify gaps in the equitable implementation of standards and curricula.

- f) Align career and technical education (CTE) with industry needs and career-readiness standards, and link to industry-recognized credentials. Chiefs and SEA staff can ensure that students have access to experienced faculty, updated technology and infrastructure, and a clear path to earn credentials that lead to successful post-secondary careers. SEA staff should monitor CTE enrollment patterns and prevent low-income and minority students from being relegated to low-level or low-wage CTE tracks. SEAs should also measure progress on expanding access to CTE pathways and credentials.
- g) Ensure students with disabilities and English learners have access to accommodations in instruction and assessment. Critical to equity is the provision of accommodations for which students are eligible and appropriate support and training for educators so that students can make full use of those accommodations. Guidance should be provided to LEAs, schools, and IEP teams about ways to maximize the inclusion of students with disabilities and English learners in the general classroom and general assessments.

8. Value People: Focus on Teachers and Leaders

In response to federal law, state chiefs have provided written assurance that low-income students and students of color will no longer be taught disproportionately by ineffective, inexperienced,

or out-of-field teachers. Each state has already developed a plan to meet this assurance, but these plans can be strengthened. Implementation must be supported and aggressively monitored to ensure equitable access to effective teaching, and teachers must be prepared to teach our increasingly diverse student population. State leaders should focus on hiring more diverse

States can work with LEAs to understand the data and provide resources or supports for improving teacher retention.

teachers, principals, and system leaders to reflect changing student demographics; while most students in our schools now are children of color, this is true for very few of our teachers and principals.²⁶ Specific actions include:

- a) Determine where state equity plans have been successful, and celebrate this progress prominently to illustrate what is possible and to guide other systems. Where progress has not been achieved, SEAs need to convene stakeholders and develop more effective approaches, collaborations, and incentives to advance equitable access to effective, experienced teachers.
- b) Annually report on multiple indicators of the diversity of the educator workforce, including teachers, principals, and district leadership. SEAs should set goals for expanding educator workforce diversity (e.g., race, gender, etc.) and track diversity of new teachers by preparation program. SEAs can also analyze the extent to which the state's educator workforce reflects student demographics, and identify ways to be more intentional about recruiting and retaining a more representative workforce.
- c) Analyze and monitor teacher licensure requirements and create new programs to increase diversity in the teaching profession. SEAs should monitor state licensure policies that may have a disproportionate impact on teacher candidates of color. Research shows there are tradeoffs in raising cut scores for teacher licensure exams and that scores on these exams are not necessarily predictive of performance in the classroom and student achievement.²⁷ Chiefs should regularly review the impact of licensure policies and examine whether a more selective program has the desired impact on the overall quality and diversity of the teacher corps. SEAs can invest in "grow your own" initiatives to develop paraprofessionals already working in the community or to build pathways to the profession for local high school students to increase the diversity of the teacher corps.
- d) Track and report on differential teacher retention and turnover rates. SEAs should determine if any groups of teachers (identified by racial/ethnic group, or by the students they serve, etc.) have disproportionately high turnover rates. States can work with LEAs to understand the data and provide resources or supports for improving teacher retention.

- e) Deliberately develop cultural competencies among aspiring and practicing educators so that educators are prepared to meet the needs of each student. SEAs can partner with higher education/teacher preparation institutions and alternative-route programs to revamp teacher preparation programs with an eye toward advancing equity.
- f) Initiate programs to ensure the school leadership pipeline prepares principals to lead in urban, rural, and other disadvantaged or hard-to-staff districts. Programs should consider how to recruit and retain principals in these settings once they have completed their preparation, or how residency models can be used to recruit principals who are interested in leading schools in these communities. SEAs should also identify ways to develop teacher capacity in these contexts.
- g) Provide necessary guidance, information, and funding to train educators in mental health supports and intervention strategies. SEAs can explore ways to support this training especially for the schools and districts with the greatest need.
- h) Provide funding for teacher training on restorative justice. This should include funding both for in-service training on restorative justice/behavior management and school discipline, as well as incentives and programs to build this content into teacher preparation programs and certification requirements.

9. Improve Conditions for Learning: Focus on School Culture, Climate, and Social-emotional Development

Achieving equity means meeting the needs of every child, which includes providing a safe and supportive school environment, access to a well-rounded curriculum and appropriate technology, and regular examination of additional unmet needs. In addition to general culture and climate, there is a particular need to prioritize this work because students who are growing up in poverty are disproportionately exposed to trauma and adverse childhood experiences (ACE) that affect their readiness to learn.²⁸

Schools must ensure students can learn in environments that are conducive to developing the skills, habits, and dispositions that support success in school and beyond.

Schools and staff responsible for educating these students need training and resources to create a level playing field in which students can achieve to their potential. School Improvement Grant plans and allocations are one way for states to start addressing these needs. Chiefs should communicate proactively about the lessons learned when addressing students with multiple ACE factors.

Schools cannot and should not try to displace families or faith communities as sources of value and character development. However, schools must ensure students can learn in environments

that are conducive to developing the skills, habits, and dispositions that support success in school and beyond. Without stifling local control or innovation, SEAs can elevate these issues and the crucial equity implications. Specific actions include:

a) Measure and improve school culture as one important aspect of closing achievement gaps. Relational trust in schools is critical to improvement, but schools with high proportions of low-income students and students of color are more likely to have a counter-productive culture and climate.²⁹ Many states sponsor surveys that find

a disparity in access to a healthy school culture, but too few have yet addressed these issues. SEAs should analyze survey results to help identify disparities in school culture and lead initiatives to address them. For example, surveys may cite ineffective school leadership as a contributing factor to a poor school culture, and the state may launch training or other supports to improve school leaders' competencies in this area.



- b) Work with LEAs to explore interventions to address chronic absenteeism. Research shows that schools with high rates of chronic absenteeism (defined as missing 15 or more school days during the academic year) have lower achievement in math and English language arts, lower ratings on school climate measures, and lower graduation rates. Many states are considering this measure as their student success or school climate indicator under ESSA. Chiefs can identify promising practices to decrease the prevalence of chronic absenteeism and connect LEAs with high proportions of chronic absentees to targeted resources and supports.
- c) Create a common framework and vocabulary for addressing students' socialemotional development and academic mindsets, and establish outcomes, measures, and benchmarks for schools to pursue. Research continues to mount that non-academic factors have profound impact on student learning, including students' sense of belonging; an atmosphere that encourages intellectual risk-taking and active student engagement; and students' beliefs about the relevance of schools and the efficacy of their efforts.³¹
- d) Consider how best to integrate social-emotional development measures into state reporting and accountability systems, while acknowledging limitations of current measurement strategies. SEAs can use surveys to collect and analyze social-emotional development skills such as self-efficacy and time management, even if they are not using this data for high-stakes accountability decisions.

- **e)** Invest in principals' ability to lead schools that support the whole child. Principals set the tone and have the greatest influence over the culture of a school, including whether all groups of students feel safe and valued.³² SEAs should help LEAs connect principals with high-quality professional learning opportunities focused on building schools and supporting teachers to make social-emotional development a priority.
- f) Integrate analysis of teachers' ability to teach social-emotional competencies into licensure requirements and teaching frameworks. Research suggests teachers have a differential impact on students' attendance, engagement, and behavior. SEAs can help connect LEAs with effective coaches and professional development providers to ensure teachers can equip students with strong social-emotional competencies. Teacher evaluators should know how to coach teachers to improve all of the different facets of their practice, including how to support students' social-emotional development. SEAs could coordinate with local educator preparation programs to ensure these competencies are being integrated into the curricula.
- g) Revise exclusionary discipline policies and explore alternative strategies. States should revisit zero tolerance policies, considering both the intended purpose of disciplinary practices like suspensions and expulsions for keeping schools safe and orderly as well as the devastating effects these policies can have on student outcomes.³⁴ To support schools and districts in exploring alternative behavior

management strategies, SEAs should provide guidance, technical assistance, and funding to prioritize training on positive behavioral supports, including on restorative justice efforts. This support can be targeted to schools with the greatest need, as identified by analyses of school discipline data. SEAs should also ensure that teacher and leader preparation programs instill these competencies in candidates so



they arrive on the job equipped to address behavior issues in positive, non-exclusionary, and non-discriminatory ways. States can also encourage discipline policies that capitalize on community support and wrap-around services that address the root causes of chronic misbehavior. Chiefs should lead a conversation about how states, districts, and schools play a role in perpetuating the school-to-prison pipeline and make the case for why schools should adopt disciplinary policies that create safe schools without jeopardizing students' life chances.

h) Advocate for the state to direct additional funding and technical assistance toward mental and physical health services to schools with the greatest need. Chiefs can advocate for these resources where they are most needed, and also

explore other cost-saving or sharing options like creating economies of scale or local partnerships. These resources should include professional development for teachers and school leaders on mental and physical health and funding for school counselors, nurses, and other staff who can address students' non-academic needs. Chiefs can also create or strengthen partnerships with state health and human services and mental health departments to connect students with services provided by those agencies.

i) Provide incentives, competitive grants, or guidance to LEAs and local communities to design and offer school-based comprehensive services—such as community schools—to low-income communities and communities of color. State leaders can help broker relationships with state-level nonprofit providers of social services and/or procure social services at the state level to facilitate local delivery (i.e., health services, out-of-school programs, nutrition programs, parent education programs). State leaders can also advocate for additional funding and provide grants, technical assistance, or guidance for LEAs and districts to offer extended learning time.

10. Empower Student Options: Ensure Families Have Access to High-quality Educational Options That Align to Community Needs

Student and parent agency is an important part of achieving educational equity. All students, regardless of their background, should have options regarding how and where they go to school, taking into account the needs of local communities.

 a) Streamline open enrollment policies across districts and across schools within the same district. A common Regardless of where they live, students should have access to advanced coursework and a variety of educational choices that meet their learning needs.

enrollment process can allow families to fill out a single application with a single deadline for any and all schools they wish to apply to, including schools within the district and charter schools. This integrates and clarifies the selection process so that parents can choose from the full range of options and make informed choices.³⁵

b) Incentivize inter-district choice programs that create more diverse schools. Just as communities have become increasingly racially and socioeconomically isolated, so have public schools.³⁶ Research shows that achievement gaps are smaller in diverse schools and that learning alongside students from different backgrounds can help all students develop stronger critical thinking and problem-solving skills.³⁷ Chiefs should examine instances where LEAs are close in proximity but starkly divergent in their students' racial and socioeconomic makeup, and explore opportunities to promote cross-district enrollment. SEAs can also consider providing state funding for additional educational options in addition to traditional district schools, including magnet schools, dual-

immersion programs, and career academies. To ensure this choice is having a positive effect on equity, SEAs can examine indicators, such as career academy enrollment, to make sure these additional programs are not having unintended consequences for underserved students, such as tracking them toward low-paying career opportunities.

c) Invest in high-quality distance and virtual learning options. Regardless of where they live, students should have access to advanced coursework and a variety of educational choices that meet their learning needs. SEAs should ensure that online courses— electives or full courses of study—are rigorous, and make necessary investments in school-level technological infrastructure to guarantee students can take advantage of these options regardless of their circumstances.

d) Subsidize the provision of transportation options for low-income families to access

high-performing schools outside their community. This could also include incentivizing high-performing districts to expand their bus routes to include enrolled students from outside district boundaries or equalizing funding for charter schools so that they can provide transportation to students and remove barriers to enrollment.³⁸



e) Consider examining admissions processes and criteria for specialized schools, including charter schools and magnet schools, to ensure that admissions requirements or assessments are not limiting opportunities for otherwise qualified students. SEAs can examine where cultural bias or selection criteria may be inadvertently screening out qualified candidates, or where universal screening policies could expand access to students who may not otherwise be encouraged to apply to these schools.

- shown positive effects on student performance, particularly for low-income students and students of color.³⁹ SEAs can ensure that charter schools receive adequate funding to help students make progress, and encourage successful charters to replicate as feasible. To ensure these schools are having a positive impact on equity, SEAs can consider strategies, such as:
 - o reviewing selection criteria to ensure they enable access for all students, including low-income, minorities, English learners, and students with disabilities;
 - examining patterns of charter school enrollment and assignment compared to traditional schools;

Leading for Equity: Opportunities for State Education Chiefs

- o providing resources on how to design effective and equitable lottery admission systems that help foster diversity.
- g) Consider promoting diversity in schools by helping districts analyze student assignment and transportation patterns. SEAs can develop guidance for LEAs on school siting and attendance zone issues; monitor and publicly report on patterns of school enrollment; provide guidance to LEAs on how to identify patterns and explore options such as changing catchment areas or reexamining choice policies; and provide guidance on political and logistical challenges.⁴⁰ Where LEAs are interested in pursuing this strategy, chiefs can be an important partner and publicly support those LEAs and the notion that diverse schools are beneficial for all students.
- h) Ensure all schools, including charters, are held accountable for providing high-quality education. ESSA requires that state accountability provisions apply to charter schools in accordance with state charter school law. States can examine existing charter laws and chiefs can advocate for any changes necessary to ensure quality, such as establishing consistent public reporting requirements across all schools. Chiefs can also work with charter school authorizers to create and implement rigorous review and approval processes that foster innovation and expansion of quality programs and eliminate failing programs. Finally, chiefs, governors, and other state leaders can use their bully pulpit to call out authorizers that are failing to appropriately scrutinize applicants or shut down failing schools.

CONCLUSION

Many state chiefs and SEAs are already addressing inequitable outcomes and opportunities for students. However, to truly build a system that eliminates systemic and historical barriers to students' success, there is much more work to be done. With the implementation of the *Every Student Succeeds Act*, states are poised to reassert their leadership in education policy and oversight. State chiefs have a renewed opportunity and responsibility to ensure that equity is at the core of the SEA's work and make the vision for educational success a reality.

Human progress is neither automatic nor inevitable. Even a superficial look at history reveals that no social advance rolls in on the wheels inevitability. Every step towards the goal of justice requires sacrifice, suffering and struggle; the tireless exertions and passionate concern of dedicated individuals... This is no time for apathy or complacency. This is a time for vigorous and positive action.

Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These commitments are informed by a Summer Workshop convened by the Aspen Education & Society Program in July 2016 on the state role of ensuring and advancing equity. We acknowledge the following participants for their rich contributions to the Workshop's discussions and for their feedback on earlier drafts of these commitments, but recognize that they do not necessarily endorse these commitments:

- Kirsten Baesler (North Dakota Department of Public Instruction)
- Anna Baldwin (Arlee Joint School District No. 8, Montana)
- Nate Gibbs-Bowling (Tacoma Public Schools, Washington)
- Christopher Chatmon (Oakland Unified School District)
- Dale Erquiaga (formerly Office of Governor Brian Sandoval, R-NV, now with Communities in Schools)
- Tony Evers (Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction)
- Marisa Goldstein (Aspen Education Program)
- Danielle Gonzales (Aspen Education Program)
- Nancy Hanks (Madison Metropolitan School District)
- Tomeka Hart (Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation)
- Martez Hill (North Carolina State Board of Education)
- Sanford Johnson (Mississippi First)
- Lee Kappes (Aspen Education Program)
- Peggy Lehner (Ohio State Senate)
- Lillian Lowery (FutureReady Columbus)
- Molly Mauer (Partners for Each and Every Child)
- Debora Merle (Office of Governor Jay Inslee, D-WA)
- Carissa Moffat Miller (Council of Chief State School Officers)
- Michelle Molitor (Fellowship for Race and Equity in Education)
- Mildred Otero (Leadership for Educational Equity)
- Veronica Palmer (RISE Colorado)
- Delia Pompa (Migration Policy Institute)
- Heidi Ramirez (Shelby County Schools)
- Pedro Rivera (Pennsylvania Department of Education)
- Ryan Smith (The Education Trust-West)
- Adam Tucker (Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation)
- Tammy Wawro (Iowa State Education Association)
- Martin West (Harvard Graduate School of Education)
- Ross Wiener (Aspen Education Program)

Jaqueline Tucker (LEE Equity Fellow, Council of Chief State School Officers), John Bailey (formerly of the Foundation for Excellence in Education), Kati Haycock (The Education Trust), Liz King (Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights), and Mike Petrilli (Thomas B. Fordham Institute) provided additional feedback on this document.

(Endnotes)

- 1 For more information on how to use the Every Student Succeeds Act to support equity, see the Aspen Institute Education & Society Program and the Council of Chief State School Officers, Advancing Equity through ESSA: Strategies for State Leaders, October 2016, http://www.ccsso.org/Documents/2016/ESSA/AdvancingEquityThroughESSA101316.pdf.
- 2 Noah Berger and Peter Fisher, A Well-Educated Workforce Is Key to State Prosperity, Economic Policy Institute, August 22, 2013, http://www.epi.org/files/2013/A%20well-educated%20workforce%20is%20key%20 to%20state%20prosperity.pdf; Dana Mitra, Pennsylvania's Best Investment: The Social and Economic Benefits of Public Education, Education Law Center, June 2011, http://www.elc-pa.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/ BestInvestment Full Report 6.27.11.pdf; Michael Greenstone, Max Harris, Karen Li, Adam Looney, and Jeremy Patashnik, A Dozen Economic Facts About K-12 Education, The Hamilton Project, September 2012, http://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/legacy/files/downloads and links/THP 12EdFacts 2.pdf.
- 3 For more information on authentic stakeholder engagement, see CCSSO et al., Let's Get This Conversation Started: Strategies, Tools, Examples and Resources to Help States Engage with Stakeholders to Develop and Implement their ESSA Plans, June 2016, http://www.ccsso.org/Documents/2016/ESSA/CCSSO%20Stakeholder%20 Engagement%20Guide%20FINAL.pdf
- 4 In a 2015 poll of parents, 51% of respondents agreed that "all children have access to the same quality of education in our public school system regardless of background, race, or income," and just 36% said school quality is not consistent, despite overwhelming evidence to the contrary. Education Post, 2015 Parent Attitudes Survey, October 2015, http://educationpost.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Ed-Post-2015-Parent-Attitudes-Survey.pdf. These disparities also exist across different racial groups. According to a 2016 poll conducted by Pathways in Education and YouGov, 81% of white parents believed that "students of color are afforded the same education opportunities as their peers," compared to 72% of Hispanic parents and 42% of black parents. Pathways in Education and YouGov, Parent Views on Education 2015-2016, February 2016, p. 19, http://www.educationsurveyresults.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Parent-Views-On-Education-by-PIE-and-YouGov.pdf.
- 5 Nora Gordon, Increasing Targeting, Flexibility, and Transparency in Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act to Help Disadvantaged Students, The Hamilton Project, March 2016, p. 9., http://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/files/gordon_policy_proposal.pdf.
- 6 Yang Jiang, Mercedes Ekono, and Curtis Skinner, *Basic Facts about Low-Income Children: Children under* 18 Years, 2014, National Center for Children in Poverty, February 2016, http://www.nccp.org/publications/pdf/text 1145.pdf.
- 7 Lauren Musu-Gillette, Jennifer Robinson, Joel McFarland, Angelina Kewal Ramani, Anlan Zhang, Sidney Wilkinson-Flicker, *Status and Trends in the Education of Racial and Ethnic Groups 2016*, U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, August 2016, http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016007.pdf; U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights, *2013-2014 Civil Rights Data Collection: A First Look*, updated October 28, 2016, http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/2013-14-first-look.pdf.
- 8 For more information on the research base behind culturally-responsive or relevant pedagogy and instruction, see: Basha Krasnoff, *Culturally Responsive Teaching: A Guide to Evidence-Based Practices for Teaching All Students Equitably*, Region X Equity Assistance Center, Education Northwest (Portland, Oregon: March 2016), http://educationnorthwest.org/sites/default/files/resources/culturally-responsive-teaching.pdf; Marietta Saravia-Shore, "Diverse Teaching Strategies for Diverse Learners," in *Educating Everybody's Children: Diverse Teaching Strategies for Diverse Learners*, ed. Robert W. Cole (Washington, DC: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 2008), http://www.ascd.org/publications/books/107003/chapters/Diverse-Teaching-Strategies-for-Diverse-Learners.aspx.
- 9 Researchers at WestEd define restorative justice (RJ) as "a growing social movement to institutionalize peaceful and non-punitive approaches for addressing harm, responding to violations of legal and human rights, and problem solving. [...] In the school setting, it often serves as an alternative to traditional discipline, particularly exclusionary disciplinary actions such as suspension or expulsion. RJ proponents often turn to restorative practices out of concern that more exclusionary disciplinary actions tend to be associated with harmful consequences for children." For more information, see Trevor Fronius et al., Restorative Justice in U.S. Schools: A Research Review (San Francisco: WestEd, February 2016), http://jprc.wested.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/RJ_Literature-Review_20160217.pdf.

- 10 For example, students enrolled in Oakland Unified School District's Manhood Development Program saw higher GPAs (2.12 for students participating in the program compared to 1.7 for non-treatment African-American males) and eight percent of enrolled students increased from below grade level to at grade level or above in two years. See Vajra Watson, The Black Sonrise: Oakland Unified School District's Commitment to Address and Eliminate Institutionalized Racism, December 2014, http://www.ousd.org/cms/lib07/CA01001176/Centricity/Domain/78/TheBlackSonrise WebV2 sec.pdf. In another study, participants in the Chicago-based Becoming a Man program saw reduced total arrests, reduced violent-crime arrests, improved school engagement during the intervention period, and increased graduation rates in a follow-up study. See Thinking, Fast and Slow? Some Field Experiments to Reduce Crime and Dropout in Chicago, August 2016, http://www.nber.org/papers/w21178
- 11 According to an analysis by the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 13 states have increased their share of funding for education between 2008 and 2014: Iowa, Tennessee, Nebraska, Nevada, Massachusetts, Wyoming, Minnesota, Pennsylvania, Connecticut, Vermont, Alaska, Illinois, North Dakota. Michael Leachman, Nick Albares, Kathleen Masterson, and Marlana Wallace, Most States Have Cut School Funding, and Some Continue Cutting, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, January 25, 2016, http://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/12-10-15sfp.pdf.
- 12 Natasha Ushomirsky and David Williams, *Funding Gaps 2015*, The Education Trust, March 2015, https://edtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/FundingGaps2015_TheEducationTrust1.pdf.
- 13 Marguerite Roza, "Breaking Down School Budgets," *Education Next* 9, no. 3 (Summer 2009): 29-33), http://educationnext.org/files/breaking_budgets.pdf.
- 14 Sandra Black, Laura Giuliano, Ayushi Narayan, "Civil Rights Data Shows More Work is Needed to Reduce Inequities in K-12 Schools," White House blog, December 9, 2016, https://www.whitehouse.gov/blog/2016/12/08/civil-rights-data-show-more-work-needed-reduce-inequities-k-12-schools. Spending more on discipline than guidance counselors is even more pronounced in the nation's largest school districts: Matt Barnum, "Exclusive Data Shows 3 of the 5 Biggest School Districts Hire More Security Officers Than Counselors," *The 74 Million*, March 27, 2016, https://www.the74million.org/article/exclusive-data-shows-3-of-the-5-biggest-school-districts-hire-more-security-officers-than-counselors.
- Emma García, Inequalities at the Starting Gates: Cognitive and Noncognitive Skills Gaps between 2010-2011 Kindergarten Classmates, Economic Policy Institute, June 17, 2015, http://www.epi.org/files/pdf/85032c.pdf; David Murphey and P. Mae Cooper, Infants and Toddlers in the District of Columbia: A Statistical Look at Needs and Disparities, Child Trends, December 2015, available from http://bainum.codelessinteractive.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Bainum Infants and Toddlers Report Dec 2015 Final.pdf. Sean F. Reardon and Ximena A. Portilla, Recent Trends in Income, Racial, and Ethnic School Readiness Gaps at Kindergarten Entry, Stanford Center for Education Policy Analysis, June 2016, http://cepa.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/wp15-02-v201606_0.pdf.
- 16 Steffanie Clothier and Julie Poppe, "New Research: Early Education as Economic Investment," National Conference of State Legislatures, http://www.ncsl.org/research/human-services/new-research-early-education-aseconomic-investme.aspx.
- 17 Farah Z. Ahmad and Katie Hamm, *The School-Readiness Gap and Preschool Benefits for Children of Color*, Center for American Progress, November 2013, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education/reports/2013/11/12/79252/the-school-readiness-gap-and-preschool-benefits-for-children-of-color/; Jill S. Cannon, Alison Jacknowitz, and Lynn A. Karoly, *Preschool and School Readiness: Experiences of Children with Non-English-Speaking Parents*, Public Policy Institute of California, May 2012, http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/report/ R 512JCR.pdf.
- 18 Margaret Caspe, M. Elena Lopez, and Chalatwan Chattrabhuti, Four Important Things to Know About the Transition to School, Harvard Family Research Project, March 2015, http://www.hfrp.org/publications-resources/browse-our-publications/four-important-things-research-tells-us-about-the-transition-to-school.
- When Chicago Public Schools expanded access to the International Baccalaureate Diploma Program, participating students were 50 percent more likely to enroll in a selective postsecondary institution than students who did not participate in the program. For more information on this work, see Vanessa Coca et al., "Working to my Potential: The Postsecondary Experiences of CPS Students in the International Baccalaureate Diploma Programme," Chicago School Research Consortium, March 2012, https://consortium.uchicago.edu/sites/default/files/publications/IB%20Report1.pdf. Teachers' racial identity can also play a role in whether or not students of color are represented in gifted programs. Jason A. Grissom and Christopher Redding, "Discretion and Disproportionality: Explaining the Underrepresentation of High-Achieving Students of Color in Gifted Programs," AERA Open 2, no. 1 (January-March 2016): 1-25, https://news.vanderbilt.edu/files/Grissom_AERAOpen_GiftedStudents1.pdf.

- 20 Jason L. Taylor and Eric J. Lichtenberger, Who Has Access to Dual Credit in Illinois? Examining High School Characteristics and Dual Credit Participation Rates, Illinois Education Research Council, 2013, http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED555454.pdf.
- 21 Susan Dynarski, "Why Talented Black and Hispanic Students Can Go Undiscovered," *The New York Times*, April 8, 2016, http://www.nytimes.com/2016/04/10/upshot/why-talented-black-and-hispanic-students-can-go-undiscovered.html? r=0; also see David Card and Laura Giuliano, "Does Gifted Education Work? For Which Students" National Bureau of Economic Research, September 2014, http://www.nber.org/papers/w20453.pdf.
- 22 Liana Heitin, "Most Math Curricula Found to Be Out of Sync With Common Core," *Education Week*, March, 4, 2015, http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2015/03/04/most-math-curricula-found-to-be-out.html.
- 23 In a December 2012 survey of school and district staff where, the majority respondents (82 percent) reported that instructional materials used with English learners were "not at all" or "somewhat" reflective of the rigor required by college- and career-ready standards. For more information, see *Instructional Materials for English Language Learners in Urban Public Schools, 2012-13*, Council of the Great City Schools, March 2013, http://www.cgcs.org/cms/lib/DC00001581/Centricity/domain/35/publication%20docs/Instructional%20Materials%20in%20Urban%20Public%20Schools%20Report.pdf.
- For more information, see: Brian Gong and Thanos Patelis, *Guide to Evaluating Assessments Using the CCSSO Criteria for High Quality Assessments: Focus on Test Content*, National Center for the Improvement of Educational Assessment, February 3, 2016, http://www.nciea.org/publication_PDFs/Guide%20to%20
 http://www.nciea.org/publication_PDFs/Guide%20to%20
 http://www.nciea.org/publication_PDFs/Guide%20to%20
 http://www.tolerance.org/publication/reading-diversity; Washington Office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction, *Washington Models for the Evaluation of Bias Content in Instructional Materials*, September 2009, http://www.k12.wa.us/Equity/pubdocs/WashingtonModelsfortheEvaluationofBias.pdf.
- The Education Trust conducted two analyses of classrooms across the country and found low levels of rigor and use of higher-order thinking skills. Sonja Brookins Santelises and Joan Dabrowski, Checking In: Do Classroom Assignments Reflect Today's Higher Standards? The Education Trust, September 2015, http://edtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/CheckingIn TheEducationTrust Sept20152.pdf; Joan Dabrowski, Checking In Update: More Assignments from Real Classrooms, The Education Trust, April 2016, https://edtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/CheckingInUpdate AssignmentsFromRealClassrooms EdTrust April 2016.pdf.
- 26 Lauren Camera, "Wanted: Minority Teachers," *U.S. News and World Report*, September 16, 2015, http://www.usnews.com/news/blogs/data-mine/2015/09/16/teacher-workforce-not-diverse-enough-report-shows.
- 27 Dan Goldhaber, Everyone's Doing It, But What Does Teacher Testing Tell Us About Teacher Effectiveness? Center on Reinventing Public Education, April 2006, http://www.cedr.us/papers/value/2007-Everyones%20 Doing%20It.pdf; Dan Goldhaber, James Cowan, and Roddy Theobald, Evaluating Prospective Teachers: Testing the Predictive Validity of the edTPA, CALDER Working Paper No. 157, November 2016, http://www.caldercenter.org/sites/default/files/WP%20157.pdf.
- Adverse Childhood Experiences and the Lifelong Consequences of Trauma, American Academy of Pediatrics, 2014, https://www.aap.org/en-us/Documents/ttb aces consequences.pdf; Ellen Gerrity and Cynthia Folcarelli, Child Traumatic Stress: What Every Policymaker Should Know, The National Child Traumatic Stress Network, September 2008, https://www.nctsn.org/sites/default/files/assets/pdfs/PolicyGuide_CTS2008.pdf.
- 29 Adam Voight, *The Racial School Climate Gap*, Region IX Equity Assistance Center at WestEd, September 2013, http://eac.wested.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/RacialSchoolClimateGapSynopsis_v2.pdf.
- 30 Diane Whitmore Schanzenbach, Lauren Bauer, and Megan Mumford, "Lessons for Broadening School Accountability under the Every Student Succeeds Act," The Hamilton Project, October 2016, http://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/files/lessons broadening school accountability essa.pdf.
- Joseph Durlak et al, "The Impact of Enhancing Students' Social and Emotional Learning: A Meta-Analysis of School-Based Universal Interventions," *Child Development* 82, no. 1 (January/February 2011): 405-432, http://www.casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/meta-analysis-child-development-1.pdf.

- 32 Shelly Habegger, "The Principal's Role in Successful Schools: Creating a Positive School Culture," *Principal*, September/October 2008, https://www.naesp.org/resources/1/Principal/2008/S-O_p42.pdf; TNTP, *Greenhouse Schools: How Schools Can Build Cultures Where Teachers and Students Thrive*, 2012, http://tntp.org/assets/documents/TNTP_Greenhouse_Schools_2012.pdf; Karen Seashore Louis and Kyla Wahlstrom, "Principals as Cultural Leaders," *The Phi Delta Kappan* 92, no. 5 (February 2011): 52-56, https://www.cehd.umn.edu/policy-breakfast/PDK2011_principals-as-leaders.pdf.
- For more information on teachers' impact on social-emotional skills, see Diane Whitmore Schanzenbach, et al., "Seven Facts on Noncognitive Skills from Education to the Labor Market," The Hamilton Project, October 2016, p. 7, http://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/files/seven facts noncognitive skills education labor market.pdf. For a deeper analysis of current social-emotional learning (SEL) competencies in teaching frameworks, see the Center on Great Teachers & Leaders, "Teaching the Whole Child: Instructional Practices that Support Social-Emotional Learning in Three Teacher Evaluation Frameworks," January 2014, http://www.gtlcenter.org/sites/default/files/TeachingtheWholeChild.pdf.
- Tony Fabelo, et al., Breaking Schools' Rules: A Statewide Study of How School Discipline Relates to Students' Success and Juvenile Justice Involvement, Council of State Governments Justice Center and the Public Policy Research Institute at Texas A&M University, July 2011, https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/Breaking_Schools_Rules_Report_Final.pdf.
- 35 Betheny Gross, Michael DeArmond, and Patrick Denise, Common Enrollment, Parents, and School Choice: Early Evidence from Denver and New Orleans, Center on reinventing Public Education, May 2015, http://www.crpe.org/sites/default/files/cpe-report-common-enrollment-denver-nola.pdf.
- Reed Jordan, "Segregated Neighborhoods Mean Segregated Schools," *Urban Wire*, September 23, 2014, http://www.urban.org/urban-wire/segregated-neighborhoods-mean-segregated-schools.
- 37 Amy Stuart Wells, Lauren Fox, and Diana Cordova-Covo, *How Racially Diverse Schools and Classrooms Can Benefit All Students,"* The Century Foundation, February 9, 2016, https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/production.tcf.org/app/uploads/2016/02/09142501/HowRaciallyDiverse_AmyStuartWells-11.pdf.
- 38 Recent research on charter schools in North Carolina found that they are more segregated than traditional public schools. This is possibly due to the fact that North Carolina does not require its charter schools to provide transportation to students, which could create barriers to enrollment for low-income students and students of color. For more information see Helen F. Ladd, Charles T. Clotfelter, and John B. Holbein, "The Growing Segmentation of the Charter School Sector in North Carolina," *Education Finance and Policy* (1-48).
- 39 *Urban Charter School Study Report on 41 Regions: 2015*, Center for Research on Education Outcomes, 2015, https://urbancharters.stanford.edu/download/Urban%20Charter%20School%20Study%20Report%20on%2041%20Regions.pdf.
- 40 For more information on how districts and charter schools are creating racially- and socioeconomically-integrated schools, see Halley Potter, Kimberly Quick, and Elizabeth Davies, "A New Wave of School Integration: Districts and Charters Pursuing Socioeconomic Diversity," The Century Foundation, February 9, 2016, https://tcf.org/content/report/a-new-wave-of-school-integration/.



One Dupont Circle, NW, Suite 700 Washington, DC 20036-1133 voice: 202.736.5800 | fax: 202.467.0790



One Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Suite 700 Washington, DC 20001-1431 voice: 202.336.7000 | fax: 202.408.8072